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late War (London, 1852), pp. 329 et seq. ; Papers
on subjects connected with the corps of E. En-

gineers, iii. 41 1
;
Gent. Mag. (cii.) ii. 474.]

H. M. C.

BRYCE, DAVID (1803-1876), architect,

born on 3 April 1803, was the son of a builder

in good business in Edinburgh. Educated at

the high school there, the aptitude for draw-

ing which he early displayed induced his

father to devote him to the profession of

architecture, and to give him a thorough

practical training in his own office, fromwhich
he passed to that of William Burn, then the

leading architect in Edinburgh,whose partner
he soon afterwards became. The partner-

ship was dissolved on Burn's removal to

London in 1844, and Bryce succeeded to a

very large and increasing practice, to which
he devoted himself with the enthusiasm of

an artistic temperament and untiring energy
and perseverance. In the course of a busy
and successful career, which was actively
continued almost down to his death, he at-

tained the foremost place in his profession in

Scotland, and designed important works in

most of the principal towns of that country.

Bryce worked in all styles, and at first chiefly
in the so-called Palladian and Italian Renais-

sance, but he soon devoted himself more ex-

clusively to the Gothic, particularly that

variety of it known as Scottish Baronial,
of which he became latterly the most dis-

tinguished and the ablest exponent. .It was
in this style that his greatest successes were

achieved, particularly in the erection and
alteration of mansion houses throughout the

country, of which at least fifty testify to

his sound judgment in planning, as well as

to his appreciation of its opportunities for

picturesque effects. The best of his public

buildings in this style are probably Fettes

College and the Royal Infirmary in Edin-

burgh ;
while the buildings of the Bank of

Scotland, which so largely contribute to

the beauty of the outline of the Old Town
of Edinburgh, exhibit him at his best in

the Italian style. His fame is, however,

mainly due to his ability in reviving the

picturesque French Gothic, now naturalised

in Scotland under the name of Baronial
; and,

to quote from the annual report of the

Royal Scottish Academy in the year of his

death,
' there is no doubt that his name will

long be honourably associated with much
that is best and most characteristic in the

domestic architecture of later times.' Bryce
was a man of varied accomplishments, and,

though somewhat rough in manner, of a genial
and warm nature, which procured him the

esteem of a large circle of friends. In the

year 1835 he was elected an associate of the

Royal Scottish Academy, and in the follow-

ing year became an academician. He was
also a fellow of the Royal Institute of British

Architects, of the Architectural Institute of

Scotland, of the Royal Society of Edinburgh,
and officiated for several years as grand archi-

tect to the GrandLodge ofMasons in Scotland.

At his death, which occurred on 7 May 1876,
after a short illness from bronchitis, he left

many important works in course of erection,
which have since been completed under the

superintendence of his nephew, who had been
for some years his partner, and who suc-

ceeded to his business. He died unmarried.

Bryce attained a large and lucrative practice

long before the days of competitions, and he
is only known to have produced one compe-
titive design for the Albert Memorial in

Edinburgh. His idea was to erect a sort of

peel tower or keep in the castle, containing
a large vaulted chamber, in which a statue

of the prince should be placed. Perhaps if

he had been the successful candidate he might
have added another attraction to the town he
has done so much to adorn. A full list of
his works is given in the '

Builder,' 27 May
1876, p. 508.

[Builder, vol. xxxiv. (1876); Architect, vol.

xv. (1876); Scotsman (12 May 1876); Forty-
ninth Annual Keport of Council of the Koyal
Scottish Academy (1876).] G-. W. B.

BRYCE, JAMES, the elder (1767-1857),
divine, was born at Airdrie in Lanarkshire
5 Dec. 1767. He was the son of John Bryce,
descended from a family of small landowners
settled at Dechmont in that county, and of
Robina Allan, whose family, originally pos-
sessed of considerable property near Airdrie,
had lost most of it in the troubles of the
seventeenth century, in which they had es-

poused the covenanting cause.

The son was educated at the university of

Glasgow, and in 1795 was ordained minister
ofthe ScottishAntiburgher Secession Church.
He was accused before the synod of latitudi-

narianism because he had minimised the dif-

ference between his own and other denomi-
nations of Christians, had condemned the
extreme assumption of power by the clergy,
and had argued that the dogmatic creeds of
the church received too much respect as com-
pared with the scriptures. He was suspended
tor two years, and when restored to his func-

tions, feeling some indignation at the intole-

rant spirit which then reigned in Scotland,
he accepted an invitation to visit Ireland,
where he ultimately settled in 1805 as minis-
ter of the antiburgher congregation at Killaig
in county Londonderry. At this time the
ministers of the antiburgher and burgher
bodies in Ulster had been offered a share in
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the reyium donum, an annual endowment paid

by the lord-lieutenant to the presbyterian mi-

nisters (abolished in 1869). This had been
distributed as a free gift without conditions

;
it

was now for political reasons proposed greatly
to increase its amount, but to require the

recipient to first take the oath
(
of allegiance,

and to give the lord-lieutenant an absolute

veto on its bestowal. The ministers of Bryce's
denomination vehemently denounced these

terms, but when they found that the stipend
could not be otherwise obtained, they sub-

mitted and took it. He alone stood firm, hold-

ing that the requirements were dishonouring
to Christ as the supreme head of the church,
and tended to enslave a minister of religion
and to degrade his office. Although separated

thereby from his fellow-ministers, and unsup-
ported by the parent church in Scotland, he
maintained his principles, and thus, as others

gradually gathered round him, became the

founder ofa branch of the presbyterian church
which took the name of the Associate Pres-

bytery of Ireland. This body was ultimately
united with the Scottish united presbyterian
church, which had by that time come to adopt
similar views of spiritual independence. Mr.

Bryce was a man of originality and literary

culture, but he published little except several

statements of his case and position in the ques-
tion just described. He died at Killaig, at the

age of ninety, 24 April 1857, having preached
twice on the sabbath preceding his death.

[Information from the family.]

BRYCE, JAMES, the younger (1806-
1877), schoolmaster and geologist, was the
third son of James Bryce (1767-1857) [q.v.]
and of Catherine Annan of Auchtermuchty
in Fifeshire, and was born at Killaig, near

Coleraine, 22 Oct. 1806. He was educated
first by his father and eldest brother (the Rev.
Dr. Bryce, still living), and afterwards at the

university of Glasgow, where he graduated
B.A. in 1828, having highly distinguished
himself in classical studies. He had intended
to study for the bar, but, finding this beyond
his means, adopted the profession of teaching,
and became mathematical master in the Bel-
fastAcademy, afoundation school of consider-
able note in Ulster. In 1836 he married

Margaret, daughterofJamesYoung ofAbbey-
ville, county Antrim, and in 1846 was ap-
pointed to the high school of Glasgow, the
ancient public grammar school of that city,
and held this office till his resignation in
1874. He was a brilliant and successful
teacher both of mathematics and geography,
but his special interest lay in the study of
natural history. He devoted himself to geo-
logical researches, first in the north of Ire-

land, and afterwards in Scotland and northern

England. He began in 1834 to write and pub-
lish articles on the fossils of the lias, greensand,
and chalk beds inAntrim (the first appeared in
the '

Philosophical Magazine
'
for that year),

and these having attracted the notice of Sir
R. Murchison and Sir C. Lyell led to his
election as a fellow of the Geological Societies

of London and Dublin. His more important
papers (among which may be found the first

complete investigation and description of the
structure of the Giant's Causeway) appeared
in the l Transactions

'
of the London society,

others in the '

Proceedings
'

of the Natural

History Society of Belfast and of the Philo-

sophical Society of Glasgow, of which he
was more than once president. He also

wrote ' A Treatise on Algebra/ which went

through several editions, an introduction to
' Mathematical Astronomy and Geography,'
'A Cyclopaedia of Geography,' and a book on
' Arran and the other Clyde Islands,' with

special reference to their geology and anti-

quities. He was a warm advocate of the
more general introduction into schools of the

teaching of natural history as well as natural

science, and set the example of giving teaching
voluntarily in these subjects, for which there

was in his day no regular provision in the high
schools of Scotland. In 1858 he received

from his university, in the reform of which
he had borne a leading part, the honorary
degree of LL.D. After resigning his post
at Glasgow, he settled in Edinburgh, and

published his later contributions to geology
in the * Transactions of the Royal Society
of Edinburgh.' He was a keen and accurate

observer, and, having an ardent love ofnature
and great physical activity, continued his

field work in the highlands of Scotland with

unflagging zeal to the end of his life. While

examining a remarkable mass of eruptive

granite at Inverfarigaig, on the shores of Loch

Ness, he disturbed some loose stones by the

strokes of his hammer, and caused the blocks

above to fall on him, killing him instanta-

neously, 11 July 1877. He was then past

seventy, but in the full enjoyment of his

mental as well as physical powers.

[Information from the family.]

BRYDALL, JOHN (b. 1635?), law-

writer, son of John Brydall, of Jesus College,

Cambridge, and of St. Alban's Hall, Oxford,
and of the Rolls, a captain in the regiment
of foot raised for the king's service by the

Inns of Court, and a famous master of pike-

exercise, was a native of Somerset. He en-

tered Queen's College, Oxford, as a commoner
in 1651, proceeded B.A., entered Lincoln's

Inn, and became secretary to Sir Harbottle


